FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/13/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/12/2019 1:16 PM

97326-1

NO. 78107-3-I

DIVISION I COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MOUNT ZION LUTHERAN CHURCH,

Appellant,

V.

CHURCH MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mills Meyers Swartling P.S.
Bruce A. Winchell, WSBA # 14582
Kasey D. Huebner, WSBA # 32890
Gretchen Graham Salazar, WSBA # 26186
1000 Second Avenue, 30th Floor
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 382-1000
Attorneys for Appellant

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER			
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1			
III.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	ARGUMENT1			
	A.	The Court of Appeals' Decision is in Conflict with Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court		
		1.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Directly and Materially Conflicts with the Washington Supreme Court's Decision in Hess v. North Pacific Ins. Co., 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993)	
		2.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with <i>Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.</i> , 173 Wn.2d 264, 267 P.3d 998 (2011)	
	В.	This Case Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court. 17		
		1.	The Undefined Term "Necessary," as it Appears in This and Countless Similar Replacement Cost Policies, Must be Interpreted by the Supreme Court to Provide Guidance to Present and Future Insureds and Insurers, and the Lower Courts Have Declined to Interpret the Term	
		2.	The Court of Appeals' Ruling, if Left Unreviewed, Will Result in a Tremendous Waste of Resources, as Insureds Will be Obligated to Replicate What Was Lost Rather Than Applying Current Preferences When Rebuilding After a Loss or Risk Forfeiting Replacement Cost Proceeds	
VI.	CONC	LUSIO	N20	
APPEI	NDIX		22	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Fitzhugh 25 Partners, L.P. v. KILN Syndicate KLN 501, 261 S.W.3d 861 (Ct. App. Tex. 2008)
Hess v. North Pacific Ins. Co., 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993)passirr
Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 173 Wn.2d 264, 267 P.3d 998 (2011)passim
Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 38 P.3d 322 (2002)
Seeber v. General Fire and Cas. Co., 19 N.E.3d 402 (Ct. App. Ind. 2014)
SR International Business Insurance Co. Ltd. v. World Trade Center Properties, LLC, 445 F. Supp.2d 320, 334 (S.D.N.Y. 2006)
Other Authorities
Webster's II New Riverside University Dictionary at 787 (1st ed. 1984)
Jordan, What Price Rebuilding?, 19 The Brief 1714
Rules
RAP 13.4
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(4) 10, 11
Treatises
12 Lee R. Russ & Thomas F. Segalla, 12 Couch on Insurance 3d § 176 176:65 (1998 & Supp. 2005)

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Mount Zion Lutheran Church ("Mount Zion").

Mount Zion is the Plaintiff in the underlying action and Appellant at the Court of Appeals.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mount Zion seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision captioned *Mount Zion Lutheran Church v. Church Mutual Insurance Company*, No. 78107-3-1 (Div. I), which was filed on March 18, 2019. Pursuant to a motion by Church Mutual Insurance Company ("Church Mutual"), which was opposed by Mount Zion, the Court of Appeals issued an order to publish the decision on May 14, 2019. The citation to the published opinion is not yet available.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review pertains to interpretation of the Replacement Cost provision of the applicable insurance policy, which states that the insurer need not pay on a Replacement Cost basis for any loss or damage "[u]ntil the lost or damaged property is actually repaired or replaced," and limits Replacement Cost proceeds to the least of (a) the policy limit, (b) the estimated cost to repair or replace the lost or damaged property on the same premises (often called the "hypothetical cost to repair

or replace"); or (c) the amount the insured actually spends that is necessary to repair or replace the lost or damaged property.

Specifically, when an insured rebuilds a functionally similar (but not identical) structure following a fire, the issue is whether the foregoing provisions allow the insured to recover under subparagraph (c) its actual rebuilding expenditures up to the lesser of (a) (the policy limit) or (b) (the hypothetical cost to repair or replace), or whether the insured's actual rebuilding expenditures are recoverable under (c) only to the extent that each individual expenditure identically matches a line item on the insurer's repair cost estimate.

Petitioner Mount Zion contends that under the Supreme Court's clear and unequivocal decision in *Hess v. North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993), an insured is permitted to rebuild a different structure and, under (c), recover the amount actually spent, up to the lesser of (a) or (b).

The Court of Appeals disagreed with Mount Zion and held that an insurer has no obligation "to pay for [an insured's] remodeling choices" and has a "contractual right" to evaluate every line item of an insured's claim to determine whether each expenditure was "necessary" to repair or replace a corresponding item of lost or damaged property. *Mount Zion Lutheran*

Church v. Church Mutual Ins. Co., No. 78107-3-I (Div. I, Mar. 18, 2019), at 11.

The effect of the Court of Appeals' decision will be to dramatically change the way in which insureds go about rebuilding after a fire. Previously, under *Hess*, an insured had access to a pool of funds (the lesser of the policy limit or the hypothetical cost to repair or replace the lost or damaged property), which the insured could then use to rebuild a different structure on the same or a different site, or purchase a replacement structure. In rebuilding, the insured was free to make compromises in one area in order to make upgrades in another area. Now, insureds will be forced to identically replicate the materials and designs that were destroyed by fire or risk losing their Replacement Cost insurance benefits.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a fire at Mount Zion Lutheran Church on May 7, 2014, which caused extensive property damage to the church building, including the sanctuary, as well as a perpendicular wing that included a kitchen, office, library, storage room, mechanical room, meeting room, restrooms, and a staircase leading to a small mezzanine. CP 231, 198-223.

At the time of the fire, Mount Zion was insured by Church Mutual under Policy Number 0067342-02-381415 ("the Policy"). CP 177, ¶3. The

Policy includes Replacement Cost coverage and has a blanket building and personal property limit of \$1,099,800. *Id.*

The Policy contains the following language relevant to the "valuation" of Replacement Cost benefits:

7. Valuation.

- a. Replacement Cost. If Replacement Cost is shown in the Declarations Page as applicable to Covered Property, we will determine the value of Covered Property in the event of loss or damage as follows:
 - (1) At Replacement Cost (without deduction for depreciation) as of the time of loss or damage.

. . .

- (3) We will not pay on a Replacement Cost basis for any loss or damage:
 - (a) Until the lost or damaged property is actually repaired or replaced; and
 - (b) Unless the repairs or replacement are made as soon as reasonably possible after the loss or damage.
- (4) We will not pay more for loss or damage on a Replacement Cost basis than the least of:
 - (a) The Limit of Insurance applicable to the lost or damaged property;
 - (b) The cost to replace "on the same premises" the lost or damaged property with other property:
 - 1) Of comparable material and quality; and
 - 2) Used for the same purpose; or
 - (c) The amount you actually spend that is necessary to repair or replace the lost or damaged property.

The term "on the same premises" is a limitation on the amount of loss or damage we will pay. It does not require you to replace lost or damaged property at the same site.

CP 188.

Church Mutual retained J.S. Held Construction Consulting ("Held") to create a scope of repair and repair cost estimate. CP 177, ¶4. An insurer's repair cost estimate is intended to include all costs associated with returning the insured to its pre-loss condition. *Id.* ¶5.

Held estimated the cost of repair to be \$729,106.42. *Id.*; CP 22.¹ The estimate included over 509 distinct line items, covering every area of the church building. CP 197-224. The individual line items ranged from the very significant (*e.g.*, a new complete electrical system at a cost of \$51,250.00, CP 197 at line 7), to the very insignificant (*e.g.*, cabinet knobs and pulls in the kitchen, 22 of them at a unit price of \$6.69, CP 202 at line 99).

The final Held estimate included the cost of replacing several arched glulam beams in the sanctuary ceiling, which had been damaged by the fire. CP 220-221. Although Held believed the beams could be made structurally

¹ Mount Zion has never agreed that the Held estimate of \$729,106.42 accurately reflects all costs associated with returning Mount Zion to its pre-loss condition. However, for purposes of this appeal, the parties' disagreement as to whether the Held estimate properly captured all such costs is irrelevant. For purposes of this appeal only, Mount Zion uses the figure of \$729,106.42 to represent the amount of recovery under Paragraph 7.a.(4)(b).

sound by repairing, rather than replacing, them, and included only the cost of repair in its initial estimate, Mount Zion's public adjuster, Drew Lucurell, argued that under Washington law, Mount Zion was entitled to have its sanctuary returned to its pre-fire condition, which required replacement, not merely repair, of the damaged beams. *See Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 275, 267 P.3d 998 (2011) ("the reasonable expectation is that following repairs, the insured will be in the same position he or she enjoyed before the accident"). Church Mutual conceded that Mount Zion was entitled to replace the beams, and Held included replacement of the beams in its final scope of repairs and repair cost estimate. CP 27 ¶9; CP 220-21.

Mount Zion retained a contractor, Seattle Remodeling Co. ("SRC"), and undertook a majority of the repairs and replacements outlined in the Held scope of repairs (hereafter "in-scope repairs"). CP 177, ¶8. However, in a few areas, Mount Zion decided against making the full repair or replacement contemplated by the Held estimate and, instead, elected to make a less expensive repair. *Id.* For example, because replacement of the arched glulam beams in the sanctuary would have required removal of the roof and added significant time to the reconstruction timeline, Mount Zion elected to refurbish rather than replace the damaged beams even though Church Mutual agreed it was entitled to brand new beams. CP 177-78, ¶8.

Mount Zion used the savings from repairing rather than replacing the beams to make desired changes to other areas of the church building that had to be rebuilt anyway as a result of the fire (hereafter "substitute expenditures"). For example, the church building (pre-fire) included a wing with a kitchen, office, library, meeting room, and restrooms. This wing was destroyed by the fire and needed to be rebuilt. In rebuilding the wing, Mount Zion made changes to the kitchen and redesigned the space to make it more functional for Mount Zion's non-worship activities. CP 178, ¶8.

The Held estimate included approximately \$20,000 for repairs to the kitchen, including a new electric range (\$2,431.69), new laminate countertop (\$567.88), new lower cabinets (\$3,489.30), new upper cabinets (\$1,845.86), new sink (\$460.03), and new sink faucet (\$238.36). CP 202. Mount Zion used the savings from repairing rather than replacing the glulam beams to pay for upgraded kitchen cabinets, an upgraded sink and faucet, upgraded pulls and hardware, and upgraded appliances. CP 154.

The issue raised by Mount Zion's motion to the trial court, CP 233-242, was whether Mount Zion could recover as Replacement Cost proceeds the amount it *actually spent* to rebuild its church (including the perpendicular wing), including both "in-scope repairs" and "substitute expenditures," up to the amount of Held's repair cost estimate, or whether only in-scope repairs are covered by the Policy.

Resolution of this issue turns on interpretation of Paragraph 7.a.(4) of the Church Mutual Policy. This paragraph establishes the limit of what Church Mutual will pay on a Replacement Cost basis as the least of (a) the policy limit (\$1,099,800); (b) the cost to replace "on the same premises" the lost or damaged property with other property of comparable material and quality and used for the same purpose (which, for purposes of this appeal, equals the Held estimate of \$729,106.42²); or (c) the amount the insured actually spends "that is necessary to repair or replace the lost or damaged property." CP 188. Importantly, Church Mutual chose not to define the term "necessary" in the Policy, and Washington law is clear that ambiguities must be resolved in favor of policyholders and against the insurer. *Moeller*, 173 Wn.2d at 272 & 276.

The trial court held that under Paragraph 7.a.(4)(c), Mount Zion "is not entitled to Replacement Cost Coverage for any substituted costs incurred that were unnecessary to repair or replace the lost or damaged portions of the church building." CP 15. The trial court did not define the term "necessary," and so the court's holding merely reiterated the ambiguous language of the Policy, and neither affirmed nor denied that

² See footnote 1.

Mount Zion's substitute expenditures satisfied the Policy's "necessary to repair or replace" requirement.

Mount Zion filed an appeal, seeking de novo review of the trial court's decision. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that under Paragraph 7.a.(3)(a), "Mount Zion is not entitled to the replacement cost of glulam beams it chose not to replace," but that Mount Zion "may nevertheless be entitled to reimbursement for its 'substitute expenditures' if they were 'necessary' to replace lost or damaged property as set out in Paragraph 7.a.(4)(c)." *Mount Zion Lutheran Church v. Church Mutual Ins. Co.*, No. 78107-3-I (Div. I, Mar. 18, 2019), at 9.

Like the trial court, the Court of Appeals declined to define the term "necessary." On one hand, the Court of Appeals stated, "There is nothing in the Policy requiring Mount Zion to rebuild the church, its office, and its kitchen in the exact same configuration as existed before the fire." *Id.* at 9-10. On the other hand, the Court stated, "[T]he Policy does not impose on Church Mutual the obligation to pay for Mount Zion's remodeling choices just because the remodeled space serves the same function as the old." *Id.* at 11. The Court concluded, "Church Mutual has the contractual right to evaluate each line item of Mount Zion's insurance claim and to determine (1) whether there was lost or damaged property; and (2) whether the amount spent by Mount Zion was necessary to repair or replace that lost or damaged

property." *Id.* In other words, like the trial court, the Court of Appeals did little more than re-state the ambiguous language of the Policy, which leaves the parties back where they started – disagreeing over the proper interpretation of the word "necessary" as it appears in Paragraph 7.a.(4)(c).

V. ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with the Washington Supreme Court's decision in *Hess v. North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993), which held that an insured is not required to rebuild an "identical building on the same premises" in order to recover Replacement Cost proceeds, but rather is free to take the insurer's repair cost estimate or policy limit (whichever is less) and build a different structure on the same site or on a different site, or use the proceeds to buy an existing structure as a replacement. 122 Wn.2d at 184-85.

The Court of Appeals' decision is also in conflict with *Moeller v*. *Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 173 P.3d 998 (2011), which requires the court to construe ambiguities in an insurance policy in favor of the insured. Here, the Court of Appeals failed to resolve the ambiguities in Paragraph 7.a.(4)(c) in favor of the insured, Mount Zion.

Second, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, including (a) the meaning of the undefined term "necessary" as it appears in the Replacement Cost Valuation provision of this Policy and countless other similar policies, which is needed to guide both insurers (in determining benefits due) and insureds (in making rebuilding decisions after a loss); and (b) efficient and common-sense use of resources when rebuilding after a fire. Because the business of insurance affects the public interest, and the outcome of this case will have an overwhelming impact on the balance of power between insurers and insureds, review by the Supreme Court is critical.

- A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is in Conflict with Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Directly and Materially Conflicts with the Washington Supreme Court's Decision in *Hess v. North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993).

In *Hess*, an insured's cabin was destroyed by fire, and the insureds elected not to replace the cabin. The agreed actual cash value of the cabin was \$20,000, and the agreed replacement cost was \$43,182.10. The insurer paid the insureds the actual cash value of the cabin but declined to pay the additional \$23,182.10 available as replacement cost proceeds. 122 Wn.2d at 182. The issue before the court was whether the insureds could collect

the full replacement cost when they had not replaced the destroyed cabin and had stipulated they did not intend to replace it. *Id*. The trial court ruled in favor of the insureds and awarded them \$23,182.10. *Id*. The Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id*. After lengthy discussion of the history of replacement cost insurance, analysis of the applicable policy language, and consideration of the general principles of interpretation of insurance policies, the Supreme Court reversed and held the insureds were entitled to only the actual cash value because they had no intention of repairing or replacing the destroyed cabin. *Id*. at 188.

Although the present case involves an actual repair or replacement of the damaged structure, while *Hess* did not, the Supreme Court's analysis in *Hess* provides the framework for proper interpretation of Replacement Cost policies.

The policy at issue in *Hess* included the following relevant language:

- b. Buildings under Coverage A or B at replacement cost without deduction for depreciation, subject to the following:
 - (1) If, at the time of loss, the amount of insurance in this policy on the damaged building is 80% or more of the full replacement cost of the building immediately before the loss, we will pay the cost to repair or replace . . . but not more than the least of the following amounts:

- (a) the limit of liability under this policy that applies to the building;
- (b) the replacement cost of that part of the building damaged for like construction and use on the same premises; or
- (c) the necessary amount actually spent to repair or replace the damaged building.
- (4) We will pay no more than actual cash value of the damage unless:
 - (a) actual repair or replacement is complete

Id. at 183-84.

The Court in *Hess* summarized these provisions as follows:

Stated generally, subparagraphs 3.b. (1)(a), (b), and (c) set the limits of maximum liability, i.e., the lesser of (a) or (b) or (c). Those amounts reflect (a) the policy limits, (b) the replacement cost of like construction and use on the same premises, more fully explained hereafter, or (c) the amount actually spent to repair or replace the damaged building.

Id. at 184.

The Court also quoted with favor what it referred to as "the Jordan Report," which the Court said "cogently explains" the foregoing policy provisions as follows:

The first measure, of course, limits the amount available for replacement to policy limits, while the second relates to a theoretical or hypothetical measure of loss: that is, the replacement cost of rebuilding the identical structure as one limit of the company's liability. This particular limitation does not require repair or replacement of an identical building on the same premises, but places that rebuilding amount as one of the measures of damage to apply in calculating liability under the replacement cost coverage.

The effect of this limitation comes into play when the insured desires to rebuild either a different structure or on different premises. In those instances, the company's liability is not to exceed what it would have cost to replace an identical structure to the one lost on the same premises. Although liability is limited to rebuilding costs on the same site, the insured may then take that amount and build a structure on another site, or use the proceeds to buy an existing structure as the replacement, but paying any additional amount from his or her own funds.

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