FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/12/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/12/2019 2:02 PM

97326-1

NO. 78107-3

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

MOUNT ZION LUTHERAN CHURCH,

Appellant,

v.

CHURCH MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey S. Tindal, WSBA #29286 Betts Patterson & Mines, P.S. One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927

Telephone: (206) 292-9988 Facsimile: (206) 343-7053 Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

Defendant/Appellee Church Mutual Insurance Company ("Church Mutual") submits this Answer to the Petition for Review of Plaintiff

Mount Zion Lutheran Church ("Mt. Zion") pursuant to RAP 13.4(d). This

Court should deny Mt. Zion's Petition for Review of the Court of

Appeals' decision in *Mount Zion Lutheran Church v. Church Mutual*Insurance Company, No. 78107-3-I, __Wash. App. 3d __, 442 P.3d 22

(Wash. Ct. App. 2019) (the "Decision").

Mt. Zion fails to satisfy its burden under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to show that its Petition involves an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by the Supreme Court, or that the Decision conflicts with either a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The Decision correctly interprets and applies established Washington law and does so in a manner that (1) buttresses and clarifies the Supreme Court decision in *Hess v*. *North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993), with respect to replacement cost claims where the insured actually rebuilds and, (2) aligns fully with the rules of policy interpretation set forth in the Supreme Court decision in *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 267 P.3d 998 (2011). Accordingly, further review by this Court is unwarranted.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Church Mutual adopts the Decision's "Facts" section as its

Statement of the Case. Although it is not a part of the formal record

before this Court, Church Mutual states that after analyzing Mt. Zion's
replacement cost claim, it issued two checks in 2016 totaling \$68,333.05,
representing a partial release of the depreciation holdback on the
replacement cost claim with respect to necessary repairs actually made.

Church Mutual notes this because the panel of judges in Division One
asked about this fact at the appellate hearing. To the extent necessary,
Church Mutual can provide documentation proving this assertion.

III. NO GROUND FOR REVIEW EXISTS

A. The Decision is not in Conflict with any Supreme Court Decisions

1. The Decision does not conflict with *Hess*

Mt. Zion incorrectly argues that the Decision conflicts with *Hess v*. *North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 122 Wn.2d 180, 89 P.2d 586 (1993). Mt. Zion argues that the Decision "directly contradicts *Hess* because it holds that 'the Policy does not impose on Church Mutual the obligation to pay for Mount Zion's remodeling choices just because the remodeled space serves the same function as the old." Petition at 15. Thus, Mt. Zion argues that, "under *Hess*, the Policy does indeed obligate Church Mutual to pay for Mount Zion's remodeling choices, <u>up to the amount of Church Mutual's repair cost estimate (or the policy limit, whichever is less</u>)." *Id.* (Emphasis added.) As has been the case from the outset, Mt. Zion ignores

the third limitation in the replacement cost coverage, *i.e.*, the amount actually spent that is necessary to repair or replace the lost or damaged property, which is specifically at issue in this appeal. Thus, Church Mutual agrees that it is responsible for Mt. Zion's *necessary* remodeling choices actually performed, which do not include the items at issue in this appeal such as upgraded building components and items undamaged by the fire.

In *Hess*, the Supreme Court analyzed whether an insurer was required under a replacement cost provision in a property insurance policy to pay the replacement cost of a fire damaged building where the insured did not actually perform any repairs or replacement of the building. The replacement cost provision at issue in *Hess*, which is substantially similar to the provision in the Church Mutual policy at issue here, stated as follows:

3. *Loss Settlement.* Covered property losses are settled as follows:

* * *

- b. Buildings under Coverage A or B at replacement cost without deduction for depreciation, subject to the following:
 - (1) If, at the time of loss, the amount of insurance in this policy on the damaged building is 80% or more of the full replacement cost of the building immediately before the loss, we will pay the cost to repair or replace, after application of

deductible and without deduction for depreciation, but not more than the least of the following amounts:

- (a) the limit of liability under this policy that applies to the building;
- (b) the replacement cost of that part of the building damaged for like construction and use on the same premises; or
- (c) the necessary amount actually spent to repair or replace the damaged building.

Hess, 122 Wn.2d at 183.

As the Court can plainly see, this limiting language is substantially different from Mt. Zion's argument above insomuch as it contains a third limitation in addition to the policy limits and the hypothetical replacement cost – the <u>necessary</u> amount actually spent to repair or replace the damaged building.

Although it is not entirely clear from the Petition, it appears Mt. Zion argues that the Decision is in conflict with *Hess* because the *Hess* court's summary of the limitations on replacement cost coverage did not analyze the term "necessarily" even though that term was explicitly used in the limitation. Thus, Mt. Zion appears to argue that because *Hess* did not analyze or address that term in the context of that case, this Court need not address it either. As discussed herein, Mt. Zion's argument is in direct

contravention of a court's duty to give effect to each word in an insurance policy.

The facts in *Hess* are substantially different than this case. In *Hess*, it was undisputed that the insured did not repair or replace the damaged building at issue. Given this, the *Hess* court only addressed the "actually" component in its analysis since the issue was whether the insured "actually" repaired or replaced the building, which it did not. Because of the lack of any actual repairs or replacement, there was no need to address the "necessarily" component because there was no need to determine how much of any money actually spent was necessary to effect the repairs. Simply put, the issue before this Court was not before the *Hess* court.

The Decision clarifies *Hess* in instances where an insured actually repairs or replaces a building insomuch as it analyzes and gives meaning to the word "necessary" in the subject policy language concerning replacement cost. As this Court is aware, a court should construe the language of an insurance policy to give meaning to all the words of the policy. *Boeing Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co.*, 113 Wn.2d 869, 876, 784 P.2d 507 (1990). Mt. Zion fails to do so in its argument, effectively writing the word "necessary" out of the policy. Consequently, the Decision clarifies that actual work which is not "necessary" to repair damaged property pursuant to a replacement cost provision in a property

insurance policy is not covered under the pertinent limiting language analyzed in this case. Given the rule of insurance policy interpretation identified above, the only plausible explanation for the *Hess* court to have only focused on the "actually" component is because of the fact that it was undisputed that the insured in *Hess* did not rebuild and had no intention of doing so. That court had no reason to determine whether any effected repairs were "necessary." As a result, Mt. Zion's use of this summary from *Hess* is unavailing as that excerpt fails to address a material word in the limiting language. As a result, the Decision actually buttresses the holding in *Hess* by including this analysis, which is required given that Mt. Zion did perform repair work unlike the insured in *Hess*.

In addition, Mt. Zion argues that the Decision somehow conflicts with *Hess* because the court in *Hess* indicated that the policy did not require "repair or replacement of an identical building on the same premises." This is a red herring. As noted in the Decision, Church Mutual has never taken the position that Mt. Zion must rebuild an identical structure. Decision at 9-10. Moreover, the Church Mutual policy explicitly states that "[t]he term 'on the same premises' is a limitation on the amount of loss or damage we will pay. It does not

¹ Mt. Zion has admitted the unnecessary nature of using upgraded building components and refurbishing an undamaged sign which it demanded be paid by Church Mutual as part of the replacement cost claim. See CP 154-157, 235-36.

require you to replace lost or damaged property at the same site." Decision at 7 (emphasis added).

Additionally, Mt. Zion focuses on the second limitation (the hypothetical cost to rebuild on the same premises with materials of like kind and quality) as the amount it necessarily should receive. However, this limitation is a ceiling, not a floor. An insured only receives the amount of the hypothetical cost to rebuild to the extent it actually performs all of the necessary work to rebuild, *i.e.*, the third limitation. This necessary work was set forth in the agreed scope and it is undisputed that Mt. Zion failed to replace the ceiling beams and substituted unnecessary upgrades and refurbishing undamaged signage. To the extent unnecessary work is performed, Church Mutual need not pay replacement cost proceeds, consistent with the third limitation at issue here.

Importantly, Mt. Zion received exactly what its insurance policy states it should have received. Although it is not part of the appellate record, subsequent to receiving Mt. Zion's replacement cost claim and prior to the filing of the lawsuit, Church Mutual issued two checks for a portion (\$68,333.05) of the depreciation at issue in the replacement cost claim. This amount represented that portion of the withheld depreciation regarding the necessary repairs which were actually performed. Thus, any argument that Mt. Zion was deprived of any covered replacement cost proceeds in contravention of the replacement cost language is without merit.

Finally, Church Mutual notes that the Policy clearly indicates that replacement cost proceeds are not owed until repair or replacement has actually taken place. Decision at 7. It is undisputed that Mt. Zion did not replace the ceiling beams as contemplated in the agreed scope. Thus, pursuant to Section C.7.a.(3)(a) in the Policy, Mt. Zion is not entitled to the replacement cost of the beams, but only the repair cost given that was the work actually performed. Decision at 7-8.

For these reasons, the Decision is not in conflict with *Hess*.

2. The Decision does not conflict with *Moeller*

Mt. Zion also incorrectly argues that the Decision conflicts with *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 267 P.3d 998 (2011). Mt. Zion argues that the Decision somehow violates the following rules of insurance policy interpretation set forth therein: (1) the court must view an insurance contract in its entirety and cannot interpret a phrase in isolation, (2) ambiguities must be resolved in favor of the policyholder, and (3) the contract as a whole must read as the average person would read it; it should be given a practical and reasonable rather than a literal interpretation, and not a strained or forced construction leading to absurd results. Petition at 15-16.

Initially, Church Mutual notes that the interpretation set forth by Mt. Zion (the Policy obligates Church Mutual to pay for Mt. Zion's remodeling choices, up to the amount of Church Mutual's repair cost estimate or the policy limit, whichever is less) violates the rule of policy interpretation requiring a court to give meaning to each word or phrase in

a policy, *i.e.*, "necessary." Thus, Mt. Zion's interpretation is unreasonable on its face.

Second, Mt. Zion provides no viable explanation as to how giving meaning to the word "necessary," which is required under the rules of policy interpretation, somehow violates the rule that a court must view an insurance contract in its entirety and cannot interpret a phrase in isolation.

Third, Mt. Zion has not previously argued that the replacement cost provision is ambiguous or that the word "necessary" is ambiguous. New arguments raised for the first time on appeal are not normally considered. RAP 2.5(a); *Savage v. State*, 72 Wash. App. 483, 495 n. 9, 864 P.2d 1009 (1994), *reversed in part on other grounds*, 127 Wn.2d 434, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995). As such, and absent any of the grounds in RAP 2.5, the Court should not consider this new argument.

If the Court entertains this new argument, which it should not, Church Mutual notes that to the extent Mt. Zion is arguing that the term "necessary" is ambiguous, it has not provided an alternative reasonable definition of that term. The fact that a term in an insurance policy is undefined does not automatically render a provision ambiguous. *Truck Ins. Exch. v. Rohde*, 49 Wn.2d 465, 303 P.2d 659 (1956); *International Marine Underwriters v. ABCD Marine, LLC*,179 Wn.2d 274, 313 P.3d 395 (2013). Instead, undefined terms will be given their plain, ordinary, and popular meaning. *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn.2d 50, 77, 882 P.2d 703, 891 P.2d 718 (1995). To determine the plain meaning of an undefined term, courts often refer to standard English

language dictionaries. *Id.* Policy language is only considered ambiguous if it is fairly susceptible to two different, but reasonable interpretations. *Washington Pub. Util. Dists. Utils. Sys. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Clallam County*, 112 Wn.2d 1, 10, 771 P.2d 701 (1989).

Here, the only definition in the record is the reasonable definition supplied by Church Mutual at the trial court level. CP 168, lines 6-16. Mt. Zion has no basis to argue an ambiguity without providing a second reasonable definition of "necessary." Moreover, Division I correctly held that the replacement cost provision was unambiguous. Decision at 8.

Finally, Church Mutual's definition of "necessary," *i.e.*, absolutely required or indispensable, is consistent with how an average purchaser of insurance would view that term. There is not any evidence in the record that Mt. Zion believed the word necessary was defined in any other manner.

For these reasons, the Decision is not in conflict with *Moeller*.

B. This Case Does not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Importance that Should be Determined by the Supreme Court

Mt. Zion also argues that its Petition should be accepted because the case involves an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by the Supreme Court. In support of its position, Mt. Zion again attempts to bootstrap an ambiguity argument in the Petition despite not having made this argument previously.

Mt. Zion argues that the case should be accepted because of the lack of interpretation of the term "necessary" by the trial court or

Division I. As previously noted, the only definition of "necessary' provided by the parties was by Church Mutual, defining the term as absolutely required or indispensable. CP 168. Mt. Zion has not provided any alternative definition in this case, which is fatal to the argument since there must be at least two reasonable definitions of a term in order for a court to find an ambiguity. *Washington Pub. Util. Dists. Utils. Sys.*, 112 Wn.2d at 10. Given this, Church Mutual provided only reasonable definition which was adopted by the trial court and affirmed by the Division I. Consequently, there is no basis for and certainly no issue of substantial public interest to interpret the meaning of "necessary." If Mt. Zion believed the replacement cost provision was ambiguous, it should have made that argument long ago.

Moreover, the examples provided by Mt. Zion prove that the items it seeks replacement cost value for were not necessary. Mt. Zion argues that replacing a \$3,000 refrigerator with one costing \$10,000 would be unnecessary. Curiously, the very items for which Mt. Zion seeks replacement cost coverage are similarly upgraded items that were not present at the time of the fire. A review of Mt. Zion's "substitute" expenditures indisputably show they are nothing more than upgraded building components valued at approximately \$75,000, including (1) a larger upgraded kitchen, including additional cabinetry, countertops, sinks, and faucets which were not present at the time of the fire, (2) refurbishing a street sign which was not damaged in the fire; (3) adding a closet which did not exist at the time of the fire; (4) upgraded flooring in the sanctuary

and foyer; (5) and upgraded lighting in the foyer, fellowship building, and sanctuary. CP 027, 154-55.

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